
 

 
 

TELECONFERENCE MEETING  
OF THE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE OF THE 

INTERSTATE INSURANCE PRODUCT REGULATION COMMISSION (IIPRC) 
 

Monday, April 28, 2008 
1:30 pm ET / 12:30 pm CT / 11:30 am MT / 10:30 am PT 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Roll Call  
 
2. Public Hearing on Uniform Standards issued on February 15 and February 27 

(Individual Immediate Variable Annuity Contract Standards, Index-Linked Crediting 
Feature for Deferred Non-Variable Annuities and Individual Immediate Non-Variable 
Annuity Contract Standards) 

 
3. Consideration of Approval of Uniform Standards from Public Hearing 

 
4. Report and Recommendation of Product Standards Committee and Consider Adoption 

of Report and Recommendation of the Product Standards Committee 
 
5. Report and Recommendation of the Finance Committee and Consider Adoption of 

Report and Recommendation of the Finance Committee 
 
6. Operational Update 

 
7. Any Other Matters 

 
8. Adjourn 



Minutes of the Meeting of the Management Committee of  
The Interstate Insurance Product Regulation Commission (IIPRC) 

April 28, 2008 
 
 

Members of the Management Committee in Attendance: 
Barbara Hudson as a designated representative for Commissioner Jane Cline, Chair, West Virginia 
Director Mary Jo Hudson, Vice Chair, Ohio 
Manny Munson-Regala as a designated representative for Commissioner Glenn Wilson, Treasurer, 
Minnesota 
Director William Deal, Idaho 
John Kissling as a designated representative for Commissioner Jim Atterholt, Indiana 
Joe Murphy as a designated representative for Commissioner Nonnie Burnes, Massachusetts 
Fran Wallace as a designated representative for Acting Commissioner Kenneth Ross, Michigan 
Commissioner Jim Long, North Carolina 
Brad Harker as a designated representative for Acting Commissioner Joel Ario, Pennsylvania 
Sara Waitt as a designated representative for Commissioner Mike Geeslin, Texas 
Commissioner Paulette Thabault, Vermont 
Don Beatty as a designated representative for Commissioner Al Gross, Virginia 
 
Commission Members in attendance:  
Shelley Santo, Hawaii 
Commissioner Roger Sevigny, New Hampshire 
Director Ann Frohman, Nebraska 
 
Legislative Committee Members in Attendance: 
Susan Nolan, NCOIL 
Mike Humphreys, NCOIL 
 
Industry Advisory Committee Members in Attendance 
Michael Lovendusky, ACLI 
Miriam Krol, ACLI 
Cande Olsen, Actuarial Resources for ACLI 
Nancy Johnson, UNUM 
Michael Gerber, NAFIA 
Dennis Herchel, Mass Mutual 
Tom English, New York Life 
 
Consumer Advisory Committee Members in Attendance: 
Ryan Wilson, AARP 
Jim Wenzel, State Attorney General Office, Texas 
Rod Bordelon, Texas Office of the Public Insurance Counsel 
Brendan Bridgeland, Center for Insurance Research 
 
Regulator Staff in Attendance: 
Susan Ezalarab, Wisconsin 
Betsy Jerome, Utah 
Malinda Shepherd, Kentucky 
Al Perkins, Kentucky 
Louis Belo, North Carolina 
Tomasz Serbinowski, Utah 
Beth Berendt, Washington 
Brian Hoffmeister, Tennessee 
Ted Hamby, North Carolina 



Tom Record, Maine 
Brian Pennington, Minnesota 
Chris Doane, Pennsylvania 
Tom Whalen, Kansas 
Brian Hoffmeister, Tennessee 
John Rink, Nebraska 
Nick Hoelscher, Texas 
Katie Campbell, Alaska 
 
Interested Regulator Staff in Attendance:  
Jerry Smith, Florida 
Mary Kosinski, Arizona 
Dennis Lauzon, New York 
 
Interested Parties in Attendance:  
Krista Wall, Allianz Life 
Eugene Choate, Bankers Fidelity 
John McBain, Actuarial Resources 
Joe Muratore, New York Life 
Carol Mayer, New York Life 
Amanda Mathisen, AHIP 
 
IIPRC Staff in Attendance:  
Frances Arricale, Executive Director 
Sara Bamford, Operations Manager 
David Morris, Product Review Consultant 
Charles Rapacciuolo, Development Consultant 
Alice Fontaine, Fontaine Consulting, Actuarial Contract 
 
NAIC Staff in Attendance:  
Kay Noonan, General Counsel 
Becky McElduff, Staff Attorney 
Kara Binderup, Staff Attorney 
 
 
Director Hudson called the meeting of the Management Committee to order.   
 
Director Hudson explained that the first part of the Management Committee meeting will be a public hearing 
to receive comments on the proposed Uniform Standards issued on February 15 and 27, 2008.  Specifically 
these standards are the Individual Immediate Variable Annuity Contract Standards, Index-Linked Crediting 
Feature for Deferred Non-Variable Annuities, and Individual Immediate Non-Variable Annuity Contract 
Standards.  Director Hudson noted that she was the one that requested the hearing to keep with the ongoing 
efforts to afford the widest degree of public participation on these proposed standards.   Director Hudson 
noted that after the hearing, the Management Committee will vote to approve the standard to forward them to 
the full Commission during the San Francisco meeting.  Director Hudson asked if there were comments from 
any Members of the Commission.  Hearing none, Director Hudson asked if there were any comments from 
the Members of the Legislative Committee.  Hearing none, Director Hudson asked if there were any 
comments from the members of the Consumer Advisory Committee.  Hearing none, Director Hudson asked 
if there were any comments from the Industry Advisory Committee.   
 
Miriam Krol, from the ACLI, spoke on behalf of the Industry Advisory Committee and asked if the 
comments needed to be explained further.  Cande Olson from Actuarial Resources working with the ACLI 
suggested that she would be able to provide a brief explanation of the suggested changes by the Industry 
Advisory Committee.  Ms. Olson highlighted that the changes that were being recommended to the Index-



Linked Crediting Feature for Deferred Non-Variable Annuities and Individual Immediate Variable Annuity 
Contract Standards were changes to clean up the standards for clarification and accuracy purposes and were 
not considered to be substantive changes. Ms. Olson highlighted that for the Index-Linked Crediting Feature 
for Deferred Non-Variable Annuities changes were suggested for the: Scope, Additional Submission 
Requirements, Variability of Information, Specifications Page, Contract Guarantees and Discontinuation of 
or Substantial Change to an Index sections.  Ms. Olson noted that for the Individual Immediate Variable 
Annuity Contract Standards changes were suggested for the Specifications Page, Contract Values and the 
Right to Examine Contract sections to make the standards consistent with the other annuity standards.  Ms. 
Olson highlighted that the changes that were suggested for the Individual Immediate Non-Variable Annuity 
Contract Standards were related to the Annuity Purchase Rates for any Premiums Paid After Issue section 
and were more substantive changes.  Ms. Olson explained that the standard should be modified to provide a 
contract owner with more flexibility.   
 
Hearing no other comments, Director Hudson concluded the Public Hearing section of the Management 
Committee.   Director Hudson proceeded to the next item on the Agenda, the consideration of approval of 
uniform standards from the Public Hearing.  Director Hudson asked if there was a motion to approve the 
standards to include the changes that were proposed by the Industry Advisory Committee.  Commissioner 
Paulette Thabault, from Vermont, made the motion and Director William Deal, from Idaho, made the second.  
The standards were approved by unanimous roll call vote.  Director Hudson noted that the approved Uniform 
Standards would be forwarded to the Commission for adoption during the next meeting on May 30 in San 
Francisco.   
 
Director Hudson proceeded to the next item on the Agenda, the report and recommendation of the Product 
Standards Committee and consider adoption of report and recommendation of the Product Standards 
Committee.  Director Hudson called upon Commissioner Roger Sevigny to provide the report.   
 
Commissioner Sevigny began his report of the Product Standards Committee and reported that the 
Committee has two amendments to recommend to the Management Committee for public comment. 
Commissioner Sevigny provided a brief explanation of the two proposed amendments.  The first is to 
relocate the actuarial requirements into a separate section within the individual life insurance policy 
standards.  The second is to add two (2) new benefit features to Appendix A of the Product Filing Rule which 
will expand the products that can be mixed and matched with state-approved filings under this temporary 
framework.  Commissioner Sevigny advised the Management Committee that there are five (5) additional 
Uniform Standards that are ready to be recommended to the Management Committee and will be done so in 
San Francisco.  Commissioner Sevigny concluded the first part of his report and recommendation of the 
Product Standards Committee.   
 
Ms. Krol noted that there was a typo in Appendix A under the Group Standards section.   Director Hudson 
asked if there were any comments.  Hearing none, Director Hudson asked if there was a motion to adopt the 
amendment recommendation.  Director Deal made the motion and Brad Harker, from Pennsylvania, made 
the second.  The motion was adopted by unanimous Roll Call vote.   
 
Director Hudson moved to the next item under the Product Standards Committee’s report, the deferred 
annuity standards.  Director Hudson reminded everyone that the Management Committee directed additional 
comment and consideration the non-forfeiture requirements in the deferred variable and non-variable annuity 
standards in direct response to specific comments from Alaska and other Member states.   Director Hudson 
turned to Commissioner Sevigny for additional information on the deferred annuity standards.  
Commissioner Sevigny noted that the Product Standards committee believes the revisions implement a 
higher level of consumer protection with respect to the non-forfeiture requirements and potential surrender 
charges and should address the concerns raised by Alaska such that an opt-out will be avoided.  
Commissioner Sevigny highlighted that there were three (3) public meetings to discuss the revisions.  
Commissioner Sevigny assured all interested parties on the call that all substantive concerns have been 
repeatedly reviewed by the Product Standards Committee and the standards establish a very high level of 



consumer protection that is supported by many of the Compact States, any potential new Compact State and 
the Consumer Advisory Committee.  Commissioner Sevigny concluded his report.   
 
Director Hudson called for a motion to approve the deferred annuity standards incorporating the revisions 
recommended by the Product Standards Committee in February.  Commissioner Jim Long, from North 
Carolina, made the motion and Director Deal seconded the motion.  Director Hudson asked if any members 
of the Commission had any comments.  Don Beatty, from Virginia, asked if any Members of the Legislative 
Committee have expressed any concern.  Susan Nolan, NCOIL’s Executive Director, replied that there are no 
comments from the Legislators.  Director Hudson asked if any of the Consumer Advisory Committee 
members have any comments.  Hearing none, Director Hudson called on the members of the Industry 
Advisory Committee for any comments.   
 
Ms. Krol spoke on behalf of the Industry Advisory Committee and suggested that Ms. Olson provide a 
summary of their comments.  Ms. Olson noted that most of the Industry Advisory Committee’s comments 
were accepted into the draft proposed for approval.  Ms. Olson noted that there was one change that was 
excluded from the draft but was voted on previously and that was the inclusion of the phrase “and any final 
changes and expenses” under the definition of “Cash Value” under the Scope section of the Individual 
Deferred Non-Variable Annuity Contract Standards. Ms. Olson wanted to make sure that the Product 
Standards Committee had intended to leave the definition as was drafted.  Director Hudson asked if there 
were any comments from the Product Standards Committee.  Commissioner Sevigny asked Texas to provide 
the answer as Vice Chair.  Ana Smith-Daley, from Texas, replied that it was correct and the Product 
Standards Committee had intended to delete the phrase.    Ms. Olson moved to the next comment and noted 
that the Industry Advisory Committee had suggested that some clarifying wording on Premium Bases 
Surrender Charges in the two different areas of the Deferred Annuity Standards.  The IAC suggested that the 
wording include reference items number 2 and 7 of the Appendix A Guidelines. Director Hudson asked if the 
Product Standards Committee had any comments with regard to the last comment.  Ms. Smith-Daley replied 
that there was no problem with including the word “of the guidelines to” into 7(f) of the Additional 
Submission Requirements section.   
 
Ms. Krol noted that the Product Standards Committee may want to go back and review all of the annuity 
contracts as there is the same issue with certification of compliance with the non-forfeiture law as identified 
in the Life Insurance Standards.  Ms. Krol noted that the Product Standards Committee would want to know 
of these issues for future discussion.   Ms. Krol also noted that the Industry Advisory Committee did submit 
comments with regard to the timetable of the non-forfeiture discussions.  Ms. Krol noted that the Industry 
Advisory Committee would like to recommend that an Actuarial sub-group be created under the Product 
Standards Committee to review some of these issues prior to them becoming issues.   
 
Director Hudson thanked Ms. Olson for her comments.  Director Hudson asked with regard to the motion on 
the floor is there a willingness to amend the standards as noted by the Industry Advisory Committee.  
Commissioner Long agreed that the motion would now be to approve the standards as they have been revised 
by the Industry Advisory Committee.  Director Hudson asked Ms. Arricale to conduct the roll call vote.  The 
annuity standards were approved by unanimous roll call vote.   
 
Director Hudson moved to the next item on the Agenda, the report and recommendation of the Finance 
Committee.  Director Hudson called on Director Anne Frohman, from Nebraska, to provide the report.   
 
Director Frohman reported that the Finance Committee was asked to review a 3-Year Financial Projection 
developed by the Commission Office in reply to a request from the NAIC Internal Administration (EX1) 
Subcommittee as it relates to the Line of Credit with the NAIC.  The NAIC would like to review for planning 
purposes what the Commission’s expected need is with regard to additional borrowing through 2010. 
Director Frohman noted that the IIPRC Office and the NAIC Finance Team worked on this together and that 
this is not a budget as it was created for planning purposes only.  Director Frohman reported that these 
projections were made in good faith as the Commission has a very limited operational history and that the 
variables are subject to change over time.  Director Frohman noted that a key aspect to the projection is the 



anticipated product filings the Commission will receive over the 2008 – 2010 time frame.   The forecasts 
were made in comparison to the overall filings made in SERFF for life and health products.  Director 
Frohman stated that it is reasonable to expect the type of filing revenue forecasted; however it is subject to 
the new standard that are promulgated and the readiness of the industry to make Compact filings.  Director 
Frohman noted that the Projection anticipates an additional line of credit request to the NAIC in 2009 with 
the Commission filing revenue covering expenses by 2010.  Director Frohman highlighted that the 
Commission will be required to start repaying the line of credit to the NAIC in July of this year, with 
quarterly principal and interest payments due throughout this Projection time frame.  Director Frohman noted 
that the Finance Committee recognizes the number of variables with which a start-up must work; the 
Committee agreed that this Projection was created in good faith based on the information that was made 
available at the end of the last quarter.  Director Frohman concluded her report and noted that the Finance 
Committee would recommend that the Management Committee direct Frances Arricale, IIPRC Executive 
Director, to formally submit this Projection to the NAIC (EX1) as per their request on behalf of the 
Commission.   
 
Director Hudson asked if there were any comments on the 3-Year Projection.  Hearing none, Director 
Hudson asked if there was a motion to forward this to EX1.  Mr. Beatty made the motion and Fran Wallace, 
from Michigan, seconded the motion.   Director Hudson asked Ms. Arricale to take a Roll Call vote.  The 
motion was approved by unanimous vote.   
 
Director Hudson moved to the next item on the Agenda, an Operational Update.  Ms. Arricale noted that the 
San Francisco meeting has been moved up an hour to allow for Members to attend other meetings.  Director 
Hudson asked Ms. Arricale to provide a brief update on the Congressional Hearing.  Ms. Arricale noted that 
the Commission appeared before the House Financial Services Insurance, Capital Markets and Government 
Sponsored Enterprises Subcommittee during a Hearing on Insurance Regulation.  Ms. Arricale reported that 
Superintendent Dinallo testified on behalf of the NAIC at this Hearing and that he indicated that New York 
was looking at the possibility of joining the Compact.  Ms. Nolan with NCOIL noted that they have been 
working with New York on this effort and are looking forward to New York joining the Compact shortly.   
 
Director Hudson noted that Commissioner Cline and Ms. Arricale are at E-Reg.  Director Hudson asked Ms. 
Arricale to provide a brief update on this presentation.  Ms. Arricale noted that the IIPRC Team of Charlie 
Rapacciuolo, Sara Bamford and David Morris along with a representative from New York Life will be 
providing a brief update on the Commission.   
 
Hearing no other comments, Director Hudson asked if there was a motion to adjourn.  Mr. Beatty made the 
motion and Barbara Hudson, from West Virginia, seconded the motion.  The Management Committee 
meeting was adjourned by unanimous vote.  
 
 



<<

  /ASCII85EncodePages false

  /AllowTransparency false

  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false

  /AutoRotatePages /None

  /Binding /Left

  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)

  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)

  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error

  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4

  /CompressObjects /Tags

  /CompressPages true

  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true

  /PassThroughJPEGImages true

  /CreateJobTicket false

  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default

  /DetectBlends true

  /DetectCurves 0.1000

  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK

  /DoThumbnails false

  /EmbedAllFonts true

  /EmbedOpenType false

  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true

  /EmbedJobOptions true

  /DSCReportingLevel 0

  /EmitDSCWarnings false

  /EndPage -1

  /ImageMemory 1048576

  /LockDistillerParams true

  /MaxSubsetPct 100

  /Optimize true

  /OPM 1

  /ParseDSCComments true

  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true

  /PreserveCopyPage true

  /PreserveDICMYKValues true

  /PreserveEPSInfo true

  /PreserveFlatness true

  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false

  /PreserveOPIComments true

  /PreserveOverprintSettings true

  /StartPage 1

  /SubsetFonts false

  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply

  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve

  /UsePrologue false

  /ColorSettingsFile ()

  /AlwaysEmbed [ true

  ]

  /NeverEmbed [ true

  ]

  /AntiAliasColorImages false

  /CropColorImages true

  /ColorImageMinResolution 300

  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleColorImages true

  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /ColorImageResolution 300

  /ColorImageDepth -1

  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1

  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeColorImages true

  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterColorImages true

  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /ColorACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /ColorImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasGrayImages false

  /CropGrayImages true

  /GrayImageMinResolution 300

  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleGrayImages true

  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /GrayImageResolution 300

  /GrayImageDepth -1

  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2

  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeGrayImages true

  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterGrayImages true

  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /GrayACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /GrayImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasMonoImages false

  /CropMonoImages true

  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200

  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleMonoImages true

  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /MonoImageResolution 1200

  /MonoImageDepth -1

  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeMonoImages true

  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode

  /MonoImageDict <<

    /K -1

  >>

  /AllowPSXObjects false

  /CheckCompliance [

    /None

  ]

  /PDFX1aCheck false

  /PDFX3Check false

  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false

  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true

  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true

  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)

  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()

  /PDFXOutputCondition ()

  /PDFXRegistryName ()

  /PDFXTrapped /False



  /CreateJDFFile false

  /Description <<



    /BGR <>

    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>

    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>

    /CZE <>

    /DAN <>

    /DEU <>

    /ESP <>

    /ETI <>

    /FRA <>

    /GRE <>



    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)

    /HUN <>

    /ITA <>

    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>

    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>

    /LTH <>

    /LVI <>

    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)

    /NOR <>

    /POL <>

    /PTB <>

    /RUM <>

    /RUS <>

    /SKY <>

    /SLV <>

    /SUO <>

    /SVE <>

    /TUR <>

    /UKR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)

  >>

  /Namespace [

    (Adobe)

    (Common)

    (1.0)

  ]

  /OtherNamespaces [

    <<

      /AsReaderSpreads false

      /CropImagesToFrames true

      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue

      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false

      /IncludeGuidesGrids false

      /IncludeNonPrinting false

      /IncludeSlug false

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (InDesign)

        (4.0)

      ]

      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false

      /OmitPlacedEPS false

      /OmitPlacedPDF false

      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy

    >>

    <<

      /AddBleedMarks false

      /AddColorBars false

      /AddCropMarks false

      /AddPageInfo false

      /AddRegMarks false

      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK

      /DestinationProfileName ()

      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK

      /Downsample16BitImages true

      /FlattenerPreset <<

        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution

      >>

      /FormElements false

      /GenerateStructure false

      /IncludeBookmarks false

      /IncludeHyperlinks false

      /IncludeInteractive false

      /IncludeLayers false

      /IncludeProfiles false

      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (CreativeSuite)

        (2.0)

      ]

      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK

      /PreserveEditing true

      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged

      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile

      /UseDocumentBleed false

    >>

  ]

>> setdistillerparams

<<

  /HWResolution [2400 2400]

  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]

>> setpagedevice



